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Introduction 
 
Ships Timbers is one-bedroomed thatched cottage on King Street in Winterton-
on-Sea, Norfolk. It stands in a row of what was originally three cottages. The 
other two were converted into one property in the twentieth century. The cottage 
is over 300 years old, with many original features.  
 
Research was undertaken a wide range of historical records, including records of 
tithes payable, deeds, census returns; the 1939 Register; birth, marriage and 
death registrations; parish registers of baptisms, marriage and burials; 
newspapers, sales particulars; local histories; maps; wills, electoral register, poll 
books, taxation records and trade directories. The first reference to an owner of 
the house occurs in 1743. This is noted in an abstract of title to the deeds of the 
neighbouring properties.  
 

 



   

 
 

   
 



  
 
 

   
  

Abstract of Title to the three cottages on King Street, including Ships Timbers 
 



 
It has been suggested that the three cottages were built using reused timbers 
from shipwrecks washed up on the shore, hence the current name. There are no 
original beams to be seen within Ships Timbers to confirm this theory. There are 
however original curved beams in the adjacent cottage. These have rectangular 
slots which it is suggested supported ships masts. Many of these beams are 
carved with initials, which is claimed could have been made by sailors.  
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

Beams inside the adjoining cottage 



 
 
Without a full architectural assessment of both cottages it is not possible to 
establish if this theory is correct. However, despite the prevalence of such stories, 
the majority prove not to be the case. This is mainly because reclaimed wood 
from shipwrecks would be of too poor a quality to use in building a house. 
Moreover, such wood is easily identifiable as it remains impregnated with salt 
even after several hundred years. Nevertheless, as Winterton is a fishing village, 
with a long and well documented history of shipwrecks along its coastline, this 
may be the rare exception that proves to be true. 
  
The history of the ownership and occupancy of Ships Timbers on King Street, 
Winterton-on-Sea can be traced back to the early 1700s. The earliest description 
of the building is that it was a ‘tenement of three cottages’. This indicates at least 
part, if not all the cottages were built together. However, the placing of the 
original fireplace and chimney breast inside Ships Timbers indicates that the 
building may have been extended at some point, with what is now Ships Timbers 
either added, or created as a subdivision when the building was remodelled. 
 

 
 

The three adjoining cottages (now two) 



 

 
 

 

 
 

The back of Ships Timbers and thatched roof 



 
 
Ships Timber and the two adjacent cottages were originally sold with the Three 
Mariners Public House. This stood next to the junction of what is now King Street 
and had a large plot of land on which many of the houses on King Street were 
later built. According the neighbour’s house deeds these properties and most of 
its land were copyhold of the Manor of Winterton Mautbyes Begvilles and 
Bramptons. 

 

 
 

Early 20th century map of Winterton showing the area around King Street and the 
Three Mariners Inn 

(Tithe Redemption Commission Map: Winterton, Norfolk. Tithe District No.669. 1936 -
1977. TNA: IR 90/23/643) 

 
 
Copyhold was a type of land tenure that existed from the Anglo-Saxon period 
until 1922 when it was abolished. Because the lords of the manor had rights over 
it every transfer of ownership had to be recorded in the manor court books. The 
closest modern equivalent is leasehold. Although manors varied in size, on 
average they consisted of a village, surrounding farmland and woods. The lord 
lived in the manor house, usually near to the church. If they owned several 
manors, they may not have occupied it on any permanent basis, with a steward 
standing in for them for court business. Traditionally, tenants and occupiers of 
property and land within a manor received protection from their lord or lady in 



return for certain duties such as working on their land for a specified number of 
days each year. 
 
Copyhold lands were smaller landholdings within each manor. As all land within a 
manor was technically owned by the lord the people who lived on or farmed it 
were ‘tenants’ who held it by custom. These copyhold tenancies could still be 
transferred in the same way as freehold land. However, each transaction had to 
be recorded in a court roll or minute book, with copies given to each party, hence 
the name copyhold. The Manor Court minutes can therefore be used to trace a 
copyhold property or piece of land back as far as the books survive (in some 
cases back to the medieval period and the Norman Conquest). 
 
There were originally three separate manors with lands in Winterton called 
Winterton Mautbyes, Winterton Mautbyes and Winterton Bramptons. Sadly, the 
Manorial Documents Register held at The National Archives, which records the 
location of all manorial records throughout the UK, states that there are no known 
records surviving for these manors. This means that the history of Ships Timbers 
is only partial. As it had no house number or name until well into the twentieth 
century, and even King Street is not named on many documents, this made 
identifying it very difficult. Nevertheless, the deeds for the neighbouring cottages, 
wills, maps, sales particulars, electoral registers, and other sources have 
provided glimpses.  
 
The earliest known owners were Alice White and John Scott. They sold their 
portions of these cottages to Engle Knights esquire in 1744 and 1763 
respectively. The properties were subsequently bought by Joseph Hume, MP. 
They were later inherited by his son, grandson and great-granddaughter. In 1910, 
the three cottages were sold to a Henry Smith. He sold the two adjoining cottages 
to Alfred Arthur George in 1926, thereby ending the joint ownership of these three 
properties that had existed for at least two hundred years. 
 

 
 



Ships Timbers 1744 to 1825 
 
1744 to 1766 
The earliest identified owners of the three cottages on King Street, which 
included Ships Timbers, were Alice White and John Scott. An abstract of title to 
the deeds of these properties compiled in 1898 records them as selling their 
portions, along with the Three Mariners public house, to E. Knights, Esquire in 
two separate sales on 12 April 1744 and 24 October 1763 respectively.  
 

 
 

Close-up of the reference to the sale of these cottages by Alice White and John 
Scott in 1744 and 1763 to E. Knights, Esquire in the Abstract of Title Deeds 

 
 
As the manorial records do not survive it is not know how or when Alice White 
and John Scott took possession. What is clear nevertheless, is that these three 
cottages formed part of one lot on a large plot of land which stretched from the 
Three Mariners public house along what is now King Street. As every subsequent 
transfer of ownership up until 1910 recorded included the Three Mariners, it is 
highly likely the cottages and Inn shared a mutual history of ownership even 
further back in time. 
 
 
Alice White 
As Alice White’s name occurs first, it can be presumed that she was the first to 
sell her portion of the three cottages on 12 April 1744. The absence of any 
mention of her marital status on the abstract of title indicates that she was almost 
certainly single. This is because a married woman’s property automatically 
became their husbands until the 1870s. Even then, the first Married Women’s 
Property Acts in this decade, only gave them very limited rights over earnings 
and inheritances. Therefore, the only women who could own property were 
widows or single. 
 
There were various means used to get around the law. The most common was to 
draw up a marriage contract, which allowed a wife to retain some rights to a 
property or put money and property into trust for her use during her lifetime, then 



to her children. Such clauses allowing women the ‘sole use’ of a property or 
money were also written into wills by their relatives. This was in effect putting the 
properties into trust for her. The details can vary enormously from limited use 
during her lifetime to complete control, but the intention was to ensure that a 
woman had access to her inheritance or dowry without interference from her 
husband. However, it could still only belong to him in the eyes of the law. 
Therefore, women recorded as the owners of such properties were virtually 
always single or widowed, and those drawing up legal documents recorded 
whether a woman was widowed.  
 
A search of the Winterton-on-Sea parish registers reveal only one woman living 
in the parish who fits with the Alice White who sold her portion of these three 
cottages in 1744. This was a single woman buried in Winterton at the age of 67 
on 14 August 1748, and therefore born in around 1681. 
 

 
 

Burial of Alice White, single, age 67, on 14 August 1748 
(Winterton with East Somerton Parish Register. NRO: PD 463/1) 

  
 
John Scott 
A man named John Scott was the second person named on the abstract of title 
deeds as selling part of this property to Engle Knights, with the second date given 
as 24 October 1763. Only one possible match for John Scott has been located in 
the Winterton parish registers, who could have been an adult owning property in 
1763. This was the baptism of a John Scott to another John and his wife 
Elizabeth on 12 April 1724.  
 
Coincidentally, John Scott’s baptism occurs on the same page of the parish 
register of that of Engle Knights, who took ownership of this property from these 
two people. There is no trace of John Scott in Winterton after the sale of his 
portion of these three cottages. 
 
 



 
 

Baptisms of Engle Knights, 22 September 1723 and John Scott, 12 April 1724  
(Winterton with East Somerton Parish Registers. NRO: PD 463/1) 

 



Engle Knights 
The next known owner of all three cottages was Engle Knights, esquire. He was 
a wealthy landowner, who was born in Winterton to Edward and Clementina 
Knights on 18 September 1723. His baptism took place at the parish church a 
few days later on 22 September. 
 
Engle Knights owned many properties and lands in Winterton, East Somerton 
and elsewhere. In 1744 and 1763 he bought the three adjoining cottages with 
around 20 perches of land on King Street in two separate sales: 
 

Which hereditaments to which E. Knights Esqr at two Courts held for this 
Manor of 12 April 1744 & 24 Octr. 1763 was admitted in portions upon 
surrender of Alice White & John Scott & which sd. premises on a recent 
resurvey were found to contain 20 perches be the same more or less… 

 
 
Engle Knights also owned the Three Mariners, a brewhouse, and other properties 
and lands close to Ships Timbers. He married Elizabeth Smith of Hoveton St 
Peter at Winterton parish church on 9 June 1754. They do not appear to have 
had any children, or none that survived to adulthood, as none were mentioned in 
his will, but other relatives were. 
 
In 1798, the owners and occupiers of rateable lands were recorded after an Act 
of Parliament allowed them to commute their annual land tax payments into one 
lump sum if they chose to. The resulting land tax redemption records show that 
Engle Knights was the major landowner in the village, with several tenants 
named. These taxation records do not identify the properties, but the main 
tenants were Thomas Crow, Thomas Jealous, Edward Tooke and James 
Annison. 
 

 
 

Close-up of entries for Engle Knights in the Land Tax Redemption Records, 1798 



 

 
  

 
 

Winterton Land Tax Redemption Records, 1798 
(TNA: IR 23/60) 



 
Engle Knights died in East Somerton in 1801, at the age of 78, and was buried at 
Winterton on 24 February.  
 
The perils of life at sea can be seen in a note on the same page of the burial 
register which describes how the six shipwrecked crew of the 74-guns Invincible, 
captained by Admiral Totty, ‘foundered on the sands near this coast, on the 16th 
instant, were buried in the churchyard at Winterton the 20th day of March’. Further 
down the page is another note of how another body believed to be a lieutenant 
from the same ship had washed ashore and was also buried in the churchyard. 
The clerk carefully noted how this man’s neckerchief had the initials ‘S.W’ sewn 
onto it, as this might help with identifying the unfortunate sailor in the future.. 

 

 
 

Burial of Engle Knights in Winterton on 24 February 1801 
 



Engle Knights left a lengthy will, which he had written in 1799.. In it he left 
numerous properties and lands in East Somerton and Winterton as well as 
elsewhere in trust, with the rents and other income to be used for a number of 
annuities to be paid to his wife, his sisters, her children and other relatives and 
friends. His properties included a brewhouse in Winterton in the occupation of 
John Barker Huntington, ‘with its storehouses, malthouses, outhouses, buildings, 
yards, grounds and appurtenances thereunto belonging’. There were also two 
farms and an ‘Alehouse in Winterton aforesaid in the occupation of Daniel Green 
with the appurtenances’. This alehouse was undoubtedly the Three Mariners 
public house as this was always listed together with ‘that cottage in three 
tenements’ recorded in the property deeds, of which Ships Timbers was one. 
Engle Knights immediately followed his reference to the public house with: 

 
And all those my five Cottages in Winterton aforesaid now or late in the 
several occupations of John Olly and Thomas Brown John Manship and 
William Salter John Woolstone and the Widow Gunton Samuel Barber and 
Joseph Amis the Widow Hodge and John Sheals with the Appurtenances. 

 
These properties evidently included the three on King Street where Ships 
Timbers stands today. Whether it was one of the five mentioned in his will cannot 
be ascertained with certainty as the manorial records which would have 
described its sale no longer survive. Nevertheless, the later title deeds make it 
clear that Ships Timbers and the two adjoining cottages were subsequently sold 
along with the Three Mariners to Joseph Hume. 
 

 
 

The references in the second page of the will of Engle Knights 
(NRO: NCC Will 1801, Francklin 27) 

 



Ships Timbers circa 1825 to 1855 
 

 

 
 

Map of estates belonging to J. Hume, MP, in East Somerton, West Somerton, 
Martham and Winterton, 1818-1855  

(NRO: MS 21291) 
 



 
Joseph Hume (1777-1855) 
The next known owner of Ships Timbers was Joseph Hume. He was born in 
Montrose in Scotland on 22 January 1777 and was the younger son of a master 
of a trading vessel. His mother was widowed when he was still quite young, and 
she went to great efforts to ensure that he and his siblings received a good 
education. He became a doctor after serving an apprenticeship to a provincial 
physician in 1790. After three years he was sent to study medicine at the 
University of Edinburgh. After graduating and becoming a member of the College 
of Surgeons he became a surgeon in the service of the East India Company both 
at sea and on land. 
 
Joseph spent many years living and working in the East Indies and leant Hindi 
and Persian. Having also taken on the roles of paymaster of the forces, the prize 
agency office and commissariat, he left the service a wealthy man and landed in 
England in 1808. Joseph chose to spend several years travelling and studying in 
England and abroad. In 1811, he embarked on a political career, and joined 
parliament as an MP for Weymouth in 1812. Although he did not hold this seat for 
long, he re-entered parliament again as a Liberal in 1818, but joined the 
opposition the following year. He re-entered in 1820 and represented various 
seats in the Aberdeen burghs, Middlesex, Kilkenny and Montrose until his death, 
apart from the year of 1841, when he unsuccessfully stood for Leeds. 
 
For thirty years he was a leader of the radical party. He was celebrated for his 
knowledge, patience and boundless energy. Among his many causes was the 
campaign to end flogging in the navy and imprisoning people for debt. 
 
Joseph Hume appears to have bought the Winterton properties and lands in 
1825. Although Winterton was not named, a letter from Dawson Turner to 
Charles Rumbold, the MP for Great Yarmouth dated 21 January 1825 refers to 
his buying an estate near Great Yarmouth. 
 

My dear Rumbold  
 

In Yarmouth… 
 
Today Jos. Hume dined with Barth: He has been buying an estate near 
Yarmouth that has cost him about £70,000. & I should not be surprised if 
he cast his eye upon the future prospect of representing Norwich, where 
they will be sadly puzzled next election for candidates to appon [sic] the 
Corporation party, who are increasing wonderfully in power. At present, Mr 
Hume states it is not his intention to reside in our neighbourhood; & it is 
understood he had given the refusal of a lease of his house to Capt. 
Burnley, Mrs Hudson Gurney’s brother… … … 
 



 
 

Letter, Dawson Turner, Yarmouth, to Rumbold, 21 Jan 1825 
(Letters and papers of Charles Rumbold. NRO: Y/L 14/20) 

 

 
 

Close-up of the section in Dawson Turner’s letter to Charles Rumbold referring to 
Joseph Hume buying an estate near Great Yarmouth for £70,000 

 
 
Joseph Hume’s home in East Somerton was named Burnley Hall (sometimes 
referred to as Burnley House). He also had a town house at Bryanston Square 
London. The hall may have been named after his wife Maria’s family as she was 
the daughter of a Mr. Burnley of Guilford Street, London. Her father was a 
wealthy East India proprietor, and the letter written by Dawson Turner to Charles 
Rumbold above mentioned Joseph offering the lease on his new estate to 
Captain Burnley.   
 
An estate map of his holdings in East and West Somerton, Martham and 
Winterton was drawn up for him, which has a covering date of 1818-1828. There 
is also an estate map of an estate map of these parishes dated July 1828. This 
does not give the owner’s name but does show the same area.  
 
Although some lands in Winterton are shown on these estate maps, the area 
around King Street in Winterton is not shown in any detail. This may simply be 
because it related to one particular estate he had bought rather than everything 
he owned. Alternatively, he may have bought Ships Timbers at a later date. 



Nevertheless, electoral registers and poll books for the 1820s to 1850s reveal 
that Joseph Hume owned lands and property in Winterton from the 1820s 
onwards, although very little of it is identifiable from these records. 
 

 
 

Map of estate in East Somerton, West Somerton, Winterton and Martham, 1828 
 

 
 

Part of the map showing lands in Winterton in 1828 



 
 
 

 
 

The Winterton area on the Hume Estate Map 
(Map of estates belonging to J. Hume, MP, in East Somerton, West Somerton, 

Martham and Winterton, 1818-1855. NRO: MS 21291) 
 
 
 
Joseph was still listed as the owner when the tithe records for Winterton were 
compiled in 1844. Tithe maps were drawn up after the Tithe Commutation Act of 
1836 allowed people subject to paying tithes to commute payments to a one off 
payment (not everyone did and the system of paying tithes to support the Church 
of England still existed until the twentieth century). Each plot of land subject to 
paying tithes were drawn up on the map and given a plot number.  
 
These plots were recorded in an accompanying apportionment which listed the 
owners and occupiers, described the size and type of plot. The Winterton map is 
dated 25 April 1845 and the apportionment is dated 20 September 1844. 
 
Ships Timbers and the two adjoining cottages are shown as on plot number 60. 
The occupier was Robert Kettle and one other unnamed person. The site was 
described as cottages and gardens and the size of the plot was 20 perches. This 
was an ancient unit of measurement along with rods (also called roods) used for 
surveying land. One rod equals one quarter of an acre and 40 perches equals 
one rod. 



 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

Winterton Tithe Map and Apportionment 
(TNA: IR 29/23/643) 

 
 
Joseph Hume died at his seat at Burnley House, East Somerton on 20 February 
1855, and was buried at Kensal Green Cemetery in London. His obituary in the 
Illustrated London News of 24 February described him as: 
 

One, if not of the most brilliant, certainly of the most sterling men of his 
age and country – is no more. He dies leaving behind him a name for ever 
memorable in our Parliamentary annals… There are few, who will not 
regret the loss of this great genius of public economy… 

 

 
 

Obituary of Joseph Hume, MP 
Illustrated London News, 24 February 1855 



 
Joseph Hume left a will which was proved the same year he died. In it he left his 
Norfolk estate to his son William Burnley Hume. Although he mentioned the 
house he lived in at East Somerton, there was no other specific mention of his 
various properties and lands in the county. However, the three cottages, including 
Ships Timbers, are recorded in the abstract of title to the house deeds as passing 
into the ownership of William Burnley Hume. 
 

 
 

   
 

PCC Will Joseph Hume of Bryanston Square, Middlesex, 1855 
(TNA: PROB 11/2210) 

 



 
Robert Kettle (1774-1851)  
Robert Kettle was the best known occupant of Ships Timbers. He became a 
tenant when Joseph Hume was the owner. Robert was the son of Henry and 
Lydia Kettle, and was baptised at Winterton-on-Sea parish church on 19 August 
1774.  
 

 
 

Baptism of Robert Kettle, 19 August 1774 
(Winterton with East Somerton Parish Register. NRO: PD 463/1) 

 

 
 

Close-up of Robert Kettle’s baptism, 1774 
 
 
Robert became a merchant seaman at the age of 14 but was press ganged to 
serve in the navy in 1796. He was sent aboard the 64-gun man-of-war, HMS 
Monmouth, and remained in the service for seventeen years. On 11 October 
1797 he served under Admiral Horatio Nelson at the Battle of Camperdown, at 
which his ship played a vital role in forcing the surrender of two ships from the 
other side. 
 
According to a local history, Robert saw service all over the world. He was 
transferred to the Stawley in 1805, then three years later to the Illustrious. His 
final ship was the Bucephalus, which he joined in 1813 shortly before his 
discharge the same year. 
 



 



After returning to Winterton, Robert Kettle worked as a fisherman from the beach. 
Robert married Sarah Townshend of the parish of East Somerton at their local 
church on 6 April 1815. They were both single, and as neither could write their 
name, they both made their mark on the marriage register.  
 
The marriage took place by licence with the ‘consent of friends. This means that 
one or both of the bride or groom was a minor – under 21, so a family member or 
other adult connected to the minor had to give permission. This was obviously not 
Robert as he was 40 years old by this time. Later census returns show that Sarah 
was born in Woodbastwick in Norfolk around 1784/85.  
 

 
 

Marriage of Robert Kettle and Sarah Townshend at Winterton, 6 April 1815 
(NRO: PD 463/5) 

 
 
Robert and Sarah had five children baptised at Winterton parish church between 
1815 and 1825. These were Sarah in 1815, Jane in 1817, Henry William Kettle in 
1819, Robert Townsend Uriah Kettle in 1822 and Walter Townsend Kettle in 
1825. Robert’s occupation was variously given as ‘seafaring’, ‘mariner’ and’ 
fisherman’ on these entries. 
 
When the census was taken on the night of 6 June 1841 Robert, his wife Sarah 
and a five year old child named Alfred were living ‘Near the Light House Hill’. 
Relationships were not given on this census return, but the Winterton baptism 



registers reveal that Alfred was their grandson. He was born illegitimately to their 
daughter Jane and baptised as Alfred Townsend Kettle in 1835.  
 
Robert was still working as a fisherman when this census was taken, although he 
was by now in his late sixties. Ages for adults over 15 on the 1841 census were 
usually rounded down (and sometimes up) by the census enumerator when they 
copied the original forms into a register. As a result, Robert’s was given as 65 
and Sarah’s as 55. No house number or street name was given for most of the 
entries on this census, including those on this page. However, based on local 
maps and their listing three years later on the tithe maps this was undoubtedly 
Ships Timbers cottage. 
 

 
 

Robert and Sarah Kettle on the 1841 Census Return 
(TNA: HO 107/0766) 



 

 
 

Close-up of the entry for Robert and Sarah Kettle on the 1841 Census 
 

 
Robert Kettle was listed as the occupier of little one bedroomed cottage on King 
Street, but he when the tithe map and apportionment were created for Winterton 
in 1844. This cottage was part of plot 60, which was described as cottages and 
gardens, and 20 perches of land. The whole building was owned by Joseph 
Hume, Esquire. Next to Robert’s name in brackets was the notation ‘and 
another’, meaning that someone else occupied the remaining cottages and part 
of the land, but their name was not given on the apportionment. 
 

 
 

 
 

Close-up of Plot 60 on the Winterton Tithe  Apportionment and Map, 1844 
 



 
 

 
 

Plot 60 on the Winterton Tithe Map, 1844 
 

 
 

Close-up of the entry for plot 60 on the Tithe Apportionment 



 

 
 

Winterton Tithe Apportionment, 1844 
(TNA: IR 29/23/6430) 

 
 
Sadly, Robert and Sarah Kettle needed financial assistance as they grew older. 
In 1849 he applied to a charitable fund for seamen administered by Trinity House. 
This organisation was responsible for the supervision of lighthouses and buoys 
around the English coast, and also distributed charitable funds to the seafaring 
community. Robert was aged 75 at the time and the petition named his wife 
Sarah as his dependant. 
 
The Kettles had moved by the time Robert died at the age of 75. Despite this, 
Ships Timbers was still being recorded on the abstract of title to the house deeds 
as ‘lately in his tenancy as late as 1910. He was buried in Winterton churchyard 
on 10 January 1851.  
 
It is not known if the Kettles had already moved out of Ships Timbers when 
Robert died, but when the census was taken on 30 March that year his widow 
Sarah was living on her own at ‘The Clink’. She was aged 67 and described as a 
pauper. Ten years later she was residing at number 4 Leech’s Lock. She was 
buried in Winterton on 1 May 1864, aged 79. 
 



 
 

Burial of Robert Kettle, 1851 
Winterton Burial Register (NRO: PD 463/7) 

 



Ships Timbers 1855 to 1910 
 
William Burnley Hume (1820-1876) 
William Burnley Hume was the second son of Joseph Hume. After his father’s 
death he inherited the Norfolk estate in Winterton, East and West Somerton and 
Martham. This included Ships Timbers, its two neighbouring cottages, and their 
20 perches of land, and Burnley Hall in East Somerton and as well as other 
properties and plots of land. 
 
William Burnley Hume was born in 1820 in the parish of St. Marylebone, in what 
was then still the county of Middlesex, but later became part of Greater London. 
He went into trade as an East Indies merchant and married Eliza Gudgeon 
Nelson at Winterton on 1 November 1850. A marriage contract was drawn up 
shortly before the wedding which gave Eliza a lifetime interest in his estate, 
should William predecease her. This meant she was to receive an annuity for the 
rest of her life. They spent much of their married life abroad. He was appointed 
as a member of the legislative council of Trinidad in 1851, as well as for sugar 
plantations in Demerara, Trinidad and Barbados.  
 
William was recorded on the electoral registers and poll books for Winterton, but 
his main residence was given as 18 Upper Harley Street, London. He qualified to 
vote in local elections in Winterton as still owned property in the village. Until the 
Secret Ballot Act of 1872 poll books were published for each parliamentary 
election listing who electors voted for. Although William Burnley Hume was listed, 
who he voted for was not. This was probably because he could not vote twice in 
the parliamentary elections, and his main address was in London. 
 

 
 

1865 Poll Book for the Great Yarmouth District listing who electors voted for 



 
In 1871, William, his wife Eliza and two servants were living at Hill House in 
Winterton. In 1872, William Burnley Hume attempted to sell his Norfolk estate. 
Sales particulars with an accompanying map were drawn up, and advertisements 
appeared in local newspapers. Although the three cottages on King Street and 
the Three Mariners were not included in this sale they are shown on the map as 
they were close to lot number 2. 
 

 
 

Somerton East and West, Winterton, Martham estate map: Burnley Hall Estate, 
for sale by Messrs Butcher and Bowler, 1872  

(Duleep Singh Collection. NRO: DS 305) 
 

 
 

Close-up of Ships Timbers close to Lot 2 



 
 
In 1875, William took out a mortgage of £3,000 against the value of the cottages 
and other Winterton properties. This was ratified at the manor court in July 1876.  
 
However, William died the following month and Ships Timbers and the other 
lands and properties were left in trust to his widow Eliza during her lifetime. The 
executors of William’s will and trustees were George John Brakenridge and 
Reginald Townshend Hadow.  
 
 

 
 

Close-up of Ships Timbers and surrounding area on the Winterton Ordnance 
Survey Map, 1893 

 
 
In 1898, the ownership of the business of one of the executors and trustees, 
George John Brackenridge, was merged with another company. This resulted in 
an abstract of title being drawn up describing the Hume estate. This referred back 
to the sales in 1744 and 1863, the subsequent ownership of Engle Knights, and 
then of Joseph Hume.  
 
This abstract of title went on to describe how the three cottages, along with the 
Three Mariners Inn, and various lands, were inherited by Joseph’s son, William 
Burnley Hume. It also referred to the marriage contract drawn up when William 
and Eliza married. Although the details are not included in the abstract of title, the 
only reason for mentioning the marriage contact would be if some kind of annuity 
or trust was set up against the rental proceeds or profits from these lands and 
properties upon Eliza’s behalf. This is evidently what happened as Eliza was 
admitted as owner of the cottages after her husband’s death. 
 



A sketch was made of the three cottages showing their location in Winterton.  
The abstract of title was subsequently added to when the cottages were sold by 
William’s heir. 
 

 
 

Sketch of the three cottages made in 1898  
(Abstract of Title Deeds) 

 



 
Mary Edith Hume 
Eliza Hume survived her husband until 19 March 1908, when she died at Hill 
House, Winterton in her 89th year. Their adopted daughter Mary Edith was then 
admitted at the manor court as owner to the copyhold lands in Winterton and 
elsewhere that formed part of what remained of the Hume estate. This was a 
legal formality required after the death of her mother in order for her to be 
recognised as the new owner. 
 
William and Eliza Hume had adopted Mary Edith at some point after their 
marriage. However, formal adoption as is known today did not exist at the time, 
so there is no public record of this arrangement. The only record of her adoption 
are the newspaper announcements published when she married Major Frederick 
James William Davies at Winterton parish church in 1888, which all referred to 
her as William Burnley Hume’s adopted daughter. She was also referred to by 
her nickname of Minnie.  
 
Mary’s marriage record to Frederick however gives her full name as Mary Edith 
Hume Harvey, the daughter of Augustus John Harvey. Mary Edith Hume Harvey 
was evidently Eliza’s, as she was born in Marylebone in 1857 to Augustus John 
Harvey and his wife Mary Gudgeon (nee Nelson), who had married in Norfolk in 
1854 
 
 

 
 
 

Wedding announcement for Mary Edith Hume in the York Herald, 14 July 1888 
 
 



Mary Edith Hume’s husband Frederick James William Davies was aged 40 and a 
widower with children when they wed. He was serving in Royal Munster Fusiliers 
at the time of the wedding.. Frederick rose through the ranks to become a 
Lieutenant-Colonel. Part of his duties included acting as assistant military 
secretary in the China and Straits Settlement.  
 
Mary and Frederick do not appear to have had children together. After his 
retirement they settled full time in England at Brampford House, Brampford 
Speke near Exeter, Devon. They were living together at the family home in 1901. 
However, by the time the 1911 census was taken only Frederick was recorded at 
their home, along with some live in servants. 
 
Tragically, Mary Edith was suffering from mental health problems by this date. 
The house deeds for the three cottages on King Street, Winterton reveal that on 
17 June 1909 her husband had applied to the courts under the Lunacy Acts of 
1890 and 1908 to have her declared of ‘unsound mind’.  
 
The Order of Lunacy was presented to the manor court the following year as part 
of the evidence that Frederick was now her trustee and wished to sell the 
cottages on Mary’s behalf. It stated that: 

 
17th June 1909. By Order of the Masters in Lunacy of this date made in the 
matter of Mary Edith Hume Davies a person of unsound mind so found by 
Inquisition. And In the matter of The Lunacy Acts 1890 to 1908 Upon the 
Application of Frederick James William Davies of Brampford House 
Brampford Speke near Exeter in the County of Devon Lieutenant-colonel 
(retired) the husband of the before named Mary Edith Hume Davies and 
upon hearing the solicitors for the applicant and upon reading the evidence 
therein mentioned. 
 
It is Ordered as follows: -  
Upon the certificate of the Masters in Lunacy that he has completed his 
Security the said Frederick James William Davies is authorized in the 
name and on behalf of the said Mary Edith Hume Davies to receive and 
give a discharge for (inter alia). 
 
The rents and profits including all arrears thereof of the house and 
cottages at Winterton in the County of Norfolk belonging to the said Mary 
Edith Hume Davies with power to manage and let the same for any 
periods no exceeding three years and to pay all proper outgoings thereof. 
All dividends interest and income and all arrears thereof respectively to 
which the said Mary Edith Hume Davies is or may become entitled. 

 



 
 

Abstract of Title referring to Mary Edith Hume Davies being declared a lunatic 
 
 
Colonel Davies sold the cottages to Henry Smith, a carrier of Winterton on 13 
June 1910 for £125. The abstract of title described the transaction thus in the 
minutes compiled three days later: 
 

Manor of Winterton Mautbyes Begvilles and Bramptons. 
Sixteenth June One thousand nine hundred and ten between Mary Edith 
Hume Davies the wife of Frederick James William Davies of Brampford 
House Brampford Speke near Exeter in Devon late a Colonel in His 
Majesty’s Army acting pursuant to an Order in Lunacy dated sixteenth 
March 1910 by the said Frederick James William Davies the person 
appointed by Order dated seventeenth June 1909 to exercise certain 
powers of a committee of the estate of the said Mary Edith Hume Davies a 
copyhold tenant of the said  Manor came before Alfred Anstey Deputy 
Steward and in consideration of One hundred and twenty five pounds to 
him paid by Henry Smith of Winterton Carrier surrendered into the hands 
of the Lord of the Manor All that cottage in three tenements late in the 
tenure or occupation of Robert Kettle [blank] Barnard and [blank] Kettle 
and George Larner John Amis Pawles and [blank] Kettle lying in Winterton 
together with the garden thereto adjoining bounded on the North West by 
the Public Road leading to the Sea on the East by land late belonging to 
the Right Honourable the Lord Braybrooke and afterwards to the 
Commissioners for executing the Office of Lord High Admiral of the United 
Kingdom and then by property belonging to Mrs A J Pratt and on the South 
by land lately belonging to Bell and then W Steward and occupied with the 
Three Mariners Public House and on the West by a newly erected cottage 
and hereditaments retained by the said Mary Edith Hume Davies to which 
the said Mary Edith Hume Davies was admitted tenant on the third day of 
December One thousand nine hundred and eight To the use of the said 
Henry Smith. 



 
 
Shortly after this sale an inland revenue survey was undertaken across the whole 
of the UK, which assessed the value of every plot of land. This survey was 
introduced in 1910 and became popularly known as the ‘Lloyd George 
Domesday’, after the chancellor of the time. It aimed to value all property in 
preparation for a new land tax that would pay for the new old age pension and for 
a proposed new unemployment benefit. The survey of England and Wales was 
completed by 1915, but the tax was never implemented, and the Act was 
repealed in 1920. However, the surviving records provide a list of owners and 
occupiers of land and properties.  
 
Although three sets of records were originally created, only the local register 
survives for Winterton. There is a note at the front of it that says the survey 
assessments were delivered in August 1910, and it is signed 21 November 1910. 
The surveyors collated  the information gilled in on the survey forms about 
owners and occupiers, along with details about their rateable values into a series 
of columns in these registers. 
 
Colonel F. Davis was noted as the owner of three cottages on King Street in 
Winterton, of which Ships Timbers was one. These were noted as being occupied 
by Joseph Larner, John Powles and George Larner. The sale of the cottages by 
Frederick Hume had obviously gone through while the survey was still in 
progress as otherwise his name would not have been noted as the owner. It took 
several months for all the information to be collated by the surveyors. As a result, 
a noted had been added underneath Frederick’s name saying these three 
cottages had been sold to H. Smith of Winterton. Mary Edith Hume Davies died in 
Devon on 20 October 1913. Her widower, Frederick, survived her until 28 March 
1924. 
 

 

 
 

Winterton Inland Revenue Survey Register, 1910 
(NRO: P/DLV 1/177) 

 
 



 

 
 

Close-up of the Inland Revenue Register listing Colonel Davies as the owner of 
three cottages occupied by Joseph Larner, John Powles and George Larner 

 

 
 

Left-hand page of the Inland Register Survey entries listing Joseph Larner, John 
Powles and George Larner 

 



Ships Timbers from 1910 
 

 
 

Ships Timbers and surrounding area in the early 20th century 
 
 
Joseph Larner, John Powles and George Larner were the three tenants listed on 
the abstract of title when Frederick Davies sold the cottages on behalf of his wife 
Mary. The abstract of title also stated that one had been lately occupied by 
Robert Kettle. However, the only Robert Kettle who was living in Winterton in 
1910 was not resident at Ships Timbers.  
 
As this phrase about Robert Kettle having lately lived there also appears on the 
1898 abstract of title deeds, it was obviously referring back to when Joseph 
Hume owned the cottages and Robert Kettle lived there in the 1840s.  
 
It is quite common to see such out of date information about tenants simply 
copied from one set of deeds to another when sales occurred. The tenants 
tended to be included simply as a means of helping to identify a property, 
especially when there were no house numbers. It is also likely to occur if one 
particular tenant had lived there for a considerable time or was well known locally 
as more people would then know which property was being referred to.  
 
Joseph Larner, John Powles and George Larner were listed as occupiers when 
the house was sold in 1910.  
 
Joseph Larner was a bricklayer born in Winterton in around 1848. When the 
census was taken, he was living in a two roomed cottage on the same street with 



his 43-year old wife Lilly Eliza. This was the first census to note how many rooms 
a property had, including the kitchen, but not any scullery, landing, lobby, closet, 
bathroom or warehouse, office or shop.  
 
The 1911 census was also the first to record how long a couple had been 
married, the number of children born to that marriage, and how many of them 
were still alive. Joseph and Eliza had been married for 43 years, and had 12 
children, of whom 9 were still alive. 
 

 
 

Joseph and Eliza Larner on the 1911 Census 
 

 
 

Close-up of the section on the 1911 census stating that Joseph and Eliza Larner 
had two rooms, not including scullery, landing, lobby or bathroom 

 
 
There was only match for George Larner on the 1911 census, who could have 
been the head of household listed on the inland revenue survey. This was 
George Ezra Larner, a lifeboatman, born in Winterton in around 1847. He was 
living on King Street with his 64-year old wife Jane Amelia. They share their three 
roomed dwelling with a 29-year old lodger called James Roberd [sic] Poules, who 
was sea going fisherman. 



 

 
 

George Ezra and Jane Amelia Larner on the 1911 Census 
 

 
 

Close-up of the section stating that George Ezra and Jane Amelai Larner 
occupied three rooms 

 
 
There was also only one person named John Powles who could be the man 
named on the inland revenue register. He was living in a three roomed dwelling 
on King Street when the 1911 census was taken. His full name was John Amis 
Powles and he was a single man, aged 45, and born in Winterton. John was 
working as a fisherman and living with his sister Catherine and a niece named 
Evelyn Annie Hewett. 
 
 

 
 

Close-up of the section stating that the Powles had three main rooms 
 



 
 

John Powles, his sister Catherine and niece Evelyn on the 1911 Census 
 
 
On 3 August 1926, Henry Smith sold the two cottages adjoining Ships Timbers to 
Alfred Arthur George, a fisherman from Martham. At some point after this date 
they were converted into one house. Little is known of the subsequent occupiers 
of Ships Timbers as there were still no house numbers given for properties on 
King Street on electoral registers until well after WWII. Nor is any house number 
included on the 1939 survey of civilian population.  
 
Today, Ships Timbers is a warm and welcoming holiday cottage, owned by the 
Hills. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 



Timeline 
 

Late 1600s to 
early 1700s 

 Ships Timbers and the adjoining 
cottages are built 

   
Circa 1681  Birth of Alice White; later owner of a 

portion of one of the cottages 
   
1723  Birth of Engle Knights; later owner 

of the three cottages 
   
1724  Birth of John Scott; later owner of a 

portion of one of the cottages 
   
1744  A portion of the three cottages sold 

to Engle Knights 
   
1763  A portion of the three cottages sold 

to Engle Knights 
   
1774  Birth of Robert Kettle; later occupier 

of Ships Timbers 
   
1777  Birth of Joseph Hume; later owner 

of Ships Timbers 
   
1801  Death of Engle Knights; owner of 

Ships Timbers 
   
1820  Birth of William Burnley Hume; later 

owner of Ships Timbers 
   
1825  Joseph Hume recorded as buying 

an estate near Great Yarmouth 
   
1840s  Robert Kettle recorded as living at 

Ships Timbers 
   
1844  Joseph Hume recorded as the 

owner and Robert Kettle as the 
occupier on the tithe records for 
Winterton 

   
1855  Death of Joseph Hume; his estate 

inherited by his son William Burnley 
Hume 



   
1857  Birth of Mary Edith Hume Harvey, 

niece and adopted daughter of 
William Burnley and Eliza Hume 

   
1875 to 1898  A fourth cottage is built on the same 

site 
   
1876  Death of William Burnley Hume; 

owner of Ships Timbers 
   
1908  Death of Eliza Hume, widow of 

William Burnley Hume 
 
Mary Elizabeth Hume Davis is 
admitted to the ownership of the 
cottages at the manor court 
following her adoptive mother’s 
death 

   
1909  Mary’s husband, Frederick James 

William Davies appointed her 
trustee under Lunacy Acts 

   
1910  Sale of the three cottages to Henry 

Smith 
   
1926  The neighbouring two cottages sold 

to Alfred Arthur George 
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